STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

—————
Appeal from Hampton County
Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge
—————

RECEIVED
Nov 24 2020
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TONY ORLANDA SINGLETON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001391

—————
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
—————

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in allowing a photograph of the complaining witness taken when she was ten years old where the photograph was not relevant to any matter in the case and the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the photograph substantially outweighed its probative value?
- II. Did the trial judge err in failing to grant a mistrial where the complaining witness had an emotional outburst during defense counsel's opening statement, which required complaining witness to be escorted from the courtroom, in violation of Appellant's right to a fair trial?
- III. Did the trial judge err in failing to charge the jury on third party guilt where there was undisputed evidence of third party guilt presented, the requested instruction guided the jury on how to examine the evidence presented, and ensure the jury did not shift the burden of proof to Appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 6, 2017, a Hampton County grand jury indicted Appellant for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree (2016-GS-25-137). R. 177 – R. 178. On August 5-7, 2019, the state, represented by Hunter Swanson, called the case to trial before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen and a jury. R. 1-2. Trasi Campbell represented Appellant. R. 2. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 172, ll. 10-14. Judge Mullen sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment. R. 173, ll. 2-7; R. 179.

On August 14, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in allowing a photograph of the complaining witness when she was ten years old where the photograph was not relevant to any matter in the case and the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the photograph substantially outweighed its probative value.

Standard of review

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

Relevant facts

Prior to trial, defense counsel objected to the state’s proposed introduction of a photograph of the complaining witness taken when she was ten years old. R. 4, ll. 9-13. Defense counsel argued the photograph was not relevant and if it were relevant, then the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. R. 4, ll. 9-13. The state explained the proposed exhibit was “simply a photograph of [Minor] at age ten.” R. 4, ll. 16-19. The state intended to introduce the photograph when Minor testified. R. 4, ll. 16-19. Judge Mullen noted that the state initially sought to introduce two photographs of Minor, one of which showed Minor wearing a birthday hat. R. 4, ll. 20-23. Judge Mullen determined the birthday hat photograph “didn’t look appropriate.” R. 4, ll. 20-24. Instead, she determined “[t]hat one was adequate.” R. 4, l. 24. She thought “this one was, by far, the best.” R. 4, ll. 24-25. Thus, she found the photograph was “appropriate” and admitted it. R. 4, l. 25 – R. 5, l. 1.¹

¹ Defense counsel renewed her objection to the photograph during the trial. R. 60, ll. 19-21.

Minor was thirteen years old at the time of the trial. R. 57, ll. 8-11. She claimed that “around November of 2015,” she was raped. R. 58, ll. 5-7. She further explained “he had stick his pee pee in [her] boo.” R. 58, ll. 12-14. Upon further questioning, Minor claimed “he had stuck his male private into [her] female private.” R. 58, ll. 20-22. After eliciting this testimony, the state questioned Minor about the photograph, which was marked as State’s Exhibit #3. R. 60, ll. 9-10; State’s Exhibit #3. Minor told the jurors the photograph was of her at ten-years old on the first day she got her hair done. R. 60, ll. 9-16.

When questioned more on the timing of the photograph, Minor indicated it was taken on “[a]lmost the first day of school.” R. 61, ll. 3-4. She then indicated it was probably taken in January, not in August as she originally said. R. 61, ll. 5-14.

Discussion

Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, all relevant evidence is generally admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” *Id.* Even relevant evidence must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE. A determination on the admissibility of relevant evidence requires consideration of the evidence’s probative value, the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the evidence, and the balancing of those two.

“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Under Rule 401, evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” *State v. Preslar*, 364 S.C. 466, 476, 613 S.E.2d 381, 386 (Ct. App. 2005). “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly

bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved.” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126-127, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004).

The photograph of Minor at ten years old made no matter in controversy more or less probable. Minor, who was thirteen-years old at the time of the trial, claimed she was sexually assaulted when she was ten-years old. Her mother, grandmother, and nurse told the jurors that she was ten-years old when she became pregnant. Quite simply, the photograph of Minor was not relevant to any issue in the case – disputed or undisputed.

When looking at Rule 403, SCRE, the starting point for analyzing evidence under Rule 403 is determining the probative value of the evidence offered. “‘Probative’ means ‘[t]ending to prove or disprove.’” State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014). “‘Probative value’ is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case.” Id. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165. While relevant evidence and probative evidence are not synonymous, the two share many similarities as demonstrated through their definitions. The probative value of evidence is directly related to the how important that evidence is in assisting the jury in rendering a verdict. Id. Thus, when analyzing the probative value of evidence, the court must consider the importance of the evidence as it relates to the issues presented in the case. State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 528, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012).

After determining the probative value of the evidence, the court must next evaluate the danger of unfair prejudice presented by the evidence. “The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001). “‘Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis.’” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424,

429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir. 1993)). According to the United States Supreme Court, “[t]he term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.” Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 180 (1997). “Rule 403 only requires suppression of evidence that results in unfair prejudice – prejudice that damages an opponent for reasons other than its probative value, for instance, an appeal to emotion.” United States v. Mohr, 318 F.3d 613, 619-620 (4th Cir. 2003).

Once a court has determined the probative value and the danger of unfair prejudice of the evidence, the court must balance the two. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013). When juxtaposing the prejudicial effect against the probative value, the determination must be based on the entire record and will turn on the facts of each case. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27-28 (2014) (citing State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct. App. 2008)). Only after balancing the probative value and the danger of unfair prejudice may the court determine if the danger of unfair prejudice outweighs the probative value of the proffered evidence as required by Rule 403, SCRE.

Applying this analytical framework to the present case reveals the photograph of Minor at ten-years old was used for the sole purpose of inciting the passions and prejudices of the jurors. There was no dispute that Minor was sexually assaulted when she was ten-years old. The only dispute was who committed the assault. The case was a classic “whodunit.” Minor’s appearance at ten-years old was not an issue in the case. Instead, the photograph served only to upset the jurors regarding the loss of innocence of a ten-year old child. The low probative value of the photograph was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the photograph.

II. In violation of Appellant’s right to a fair trial, the trial judge erred in failing to grant a mistrial where the complaining witness had an emotional outburst during defense counsel’s opening statement, which required complaining witness to be escorted from the courtroom.

Standard of review

A trial judge's decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. State v. Rowlands, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). “Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge.” Id. at 457–58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Although the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, the appellate court must reverse the ruling if the decision was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010)).

Relevant facts

Immediately following her opening statement, defense counsel moved for a mistrial based upon the emotional outburst of Minor that occurred during her opening statement. R. 22, l. 22 – R. 23, l. 1. Counsel noted the outburst “created a disturbance” and “[i]t was audible.” R. 23, ll. 5-7. In order to investigate the disturbance, defense counsel turned around during her opening. R. 23, ll. 7-8. She saw Minor being “carted off out of the courtroom by two individuals.” R. 23, ll. 8-10. Counsel noted that judge warned the gallery about the emotional nature of the case and expressed that she would not tolerate any emotional outbursts or behavior in the courtroom during the trial. R. 23, ll. 11-13. Based upon Minor’s visual and audible display of emotion during

defense counsel's opening, the defense requested a mistrial. R. 23, ll. 11-16. Counsel noted that due to the "level of emotion that was just demonstrated," there was no way to cure the prejudice through an instruction and that continuing the trial would deny Appellant his right to a fair trial. R. 23, ll. 17-22.

The state essentially conceded the facts as recounted by defense counsel. R. 23, l. 25 – R. 24, l. 6. The state's sole argument was that it was "unfair to expect a 13-year-old rape victim to always be able to keep her emotions in check." R. 24, ll. 2-3. According to the state, Minor was "led out of the courtroom as soon as it *got out of control*." R. 24, ll. 4-5 (emphasis added). Further, the state noted it was "obviously" an "emotionally charged situation." R. 24, ll. 5-6. Agreeing that the case was "emotionally charged," Judge Mullen noted that "the state has a responsibility to know who their victims are, and be able to know if they can sit through testimony." R. 24, ll. 7-14. The judge was concerned that Minor's outburst occurred during defense counsel's opening statement. R. 24, ll. 14-15. She noted that it was "not unusually for victims, child victims, to only be brought in during their testimony and that is all." R. 24, ll. 15-17. Nonetheless, Judge Mullen denied the request for a mistrial. R. 25, ll. 24-25. She instructed everyone "to tread lightly." R. 25, l. 25 – R. 26, l. 1.

As explained, Judge Mullen initially agreed with both the state and defense counsel that Minor had an emotional outburst during the opening statement of the defense. However, when defense counsel requested a new trial on this basis, Judge Mullen changed course. According to Judge Mullen, "during the defendant's opening statement, [Minor] began crying." R. 174, ll. 1-5. At this juncture, the judge indicated she would not characterize it as an outburst. R. 174, ll. 5-6. Instead, she claimed "[s]he just began crying, and she was not removed from the courtroom by [the judge]." The judge noted "[t]he victim's advocate, in her wisdom, just gently took her and

walked her out of the courtroom as she should, and did a good job doing it.” R. 174, ll. 6-10. In the judge’s view at the end of the trial, she did not find Minor’s outburst to have been “outwardly disruptive.” R. 174, ll. 11-12.

Discussion

“The right to a fair trial by an impartial jury in a criminal prosecution is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and by Article I, § 14, of the S.C. Constitution.” State v. Stewart, 278 S.C. 296, 303, 295 S.E.2d 627, 630-631 (1982). “[T]he very heart of a ‘fair trial’ embodies a disciplined courtroom wherein an accused’s fate is determined solely through the exercise of calm and informed judgment.” Id. at 303, 295 S.E.2d at 631.

As mentioned, although the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, the appellate court must reverse the ruling if the decision was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010). While a mistrial should be granted only when “absolutely necessary” and when a defendant can show error and resulting prejudice, a mistrial must be ordered when the incident “is so grievous that the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” Id. Another way of describing when a mistrial must be granted is when there is “manifest necessity.” State v. Bilton, 156 S.C. 324, 153 S.E. 269 (1930). “The less than lucid test is ... whether the mistrial was dictated by manifest necessity or the ends of public justice, the latter being defined as the public’s interest in a fair trial designated to end in just judgment.” State v. Prince, 279 S.C. 30, 32-33, 301 S.E.2d 471, 472 (1983).

The South Carolina Supreme Court held a mistrial was in order where “spectators filled the courtroom seats to capacity and even stood against the walls,” there were several outbursts of laughter from the spectators requiring an admonition from the judge, a juror reported that one spectator glared

at her with “obvious disgust,” and the jurors overheard a spectator making opinionated remarks. Stewart, 278 S.C. at 301-302, 295 S.E.2d at 629-630. The Court held it was error for the trial judge to deny the motion for a mistrial “without having first explored the improper conduct of the spectator and without having first determined whether or not there was prejudice.” Id. at 302, 295 S.E.2d at 630. Further, the Court held the judge’s reliance on his instructions to the jury to disregard improper spectator conduct was insufficient to assure Stewart received a fair trial. Id. at 304, 295 S.E.2d at 631.

In another case involving disorder in the court, the Court held a defendant was entitled to a new trial where there was “no doubt that the action on part of the audience and crowd in the courtroom during part of the trial was so irregular and improper and was allowed to go unchecked by the officials that the defendant did not get what he was entitled to, a fair, impartial, and legal, trial.” State v. Gens, 107 S.C. 448, 93 S.E. 139, 140 (1917). In this transporting liquor case, several ladies held large posters condemning liquor traffic before the jury during part of the trial. The ladies sat directly in front of the jury and to the left of the judge. Id. at 448, 93 S.E. 139. The Court held:

The action of the women was highly improper, in that it was an attempt to impede justice, however innocent on their part, and deny to the defendant a fair and impartial trial, guaranteed to him by the law of the land, an attempt to influence a sworn jury to arrive at a verdict improperly, and to be influenced by outside influence, trying the case by manufactured outside public opinion, and not by the facts of the case as developed in evidence and the law of the trial judge.

Id. Despite the jurors indicating they were not influenced in any manner by the posters, the Court held the trial judge should have set aside the verdict. Id.

On the other hand, in State v. Hughes, 336 S.C. 585, 596-597, 521 S.E.2d 500, 506 (1999), the Court found a trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying a motion for a mistrial where the deceased’s mother “loudly exited the courtroom” followed by her sister during the cross-examination of a medical expert. The trial judge noted that the mother’s conduct “could be interpreted as a ‘negative comment’ on the defense evidence,” the disruption was short and “the jury already knew

how she felt since she had testified as a victim impact witness” in the capital sentencing proceedings. Id. The Court found the jury “likely understood her outburst as an expression of [her] grief,” about which she had already testified. Id.

Similarly, in State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 316, 479 S.E.2d 517, 520 (Ct. App. 1996), this Court held that the displays of emotion – audible crying by spectators – in the courtroom during the alleged victim’s testimony did not require a mistrial. When defense counsel moved for a mistrial, the trial judge stated “he did not believe that any displays of emotion so far would have tainted the jury.” To ensure additional emotional outbursts would not prejudice the jury, the judge cleared the courtroom and instructed the jury that the courtroom had been cleared due to the display of emotion by observers. Id. Further, the judge implored the jurors that they were not to draw any inferences from this fact as neither side had done anything improper and reminded the jurors that they were to base their verdict on the testimony and evidence presented, not on emotion. Id.

In another case involving an emotional outburst, the Court held no mistrial was required where the deceased’s sister had a minor outburst while testifying when asked to identify the defendant. State v. Anderson, 322 S.C. 89, 470 S.E.2d 103 (1996). The Court held the emotional outburst was ameliorated by the trial judge dismissing the jury and calling a recess as soon as the outburst occurred to give the witness an opportunity to calm down. Id. at 93, 470 S.E.2d at 105. Further, the Court was persuaded that the outburst had little effect on the jury because it occurred at the beginning of the trial and was “very limited in time and in scope.” Id. As in Hughes, the Court surmised that the sister’s outburst was an expression of grief and the jury likely understood that. Id. While finding the curative measures here sufficient, the Court warned that some cases involving a witness’s or spectator’s outburst “may carry such great potential for prejudice that the trial judge should give, or offer to give, a curative instruction.” Id. at 93, 470 S.E.2d at 106.

The trial judge erred in failing to order a mistrial based on Minor's extreme emotional outburst during defense counsel's opening statement. Although the trial judge was aware of Minor's disruptive behavior and admonished the state regarding Minor's behavior, the trial judge never instructed the jury concerning how to consider, if at all, Minor's behavior. Minor's sobbing began during defense counsel's opening statement. Despite Minor's conduct, the judge never told the jury not to consider her conduct in their deliberations. Minor's sobbing and being carried out of the courtroom by others during defense counsel's opening statement were a far cry from the deceased's mother "loudly" exiting the courtroom in Hughes, supra. The conduct on display at Appellant's trial was not limited to crying by spectators as in Jones, supra, where the judge cleared the courtroom and instructed the jury not to draw an adverse inference from clearing the courtroom and to decide the case based only on the evidence presented. Despite the Court warning in Anderson, supra, that in some cases, a witness's or spectator's outburst "may carry such great potential for prejudice that the trial judge should give, or offer to give, a curative instruction," no instructs were given here. See Anderson, 322 S.C. at 93, 470 S.E.2d at 106.

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