STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Nov 24 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Hampton County
Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TONY ORLANDO SINGLETON,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001391

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

I. McDUFFIE STONE
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Standard of Review/when there is a duty to provide requested instructions

An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583-84 (2010). "Ordinarily, the trial court has the duty to give requested instructions which correctly state the law

applicable to the issues and which are supported by the evidence.” State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996).

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). “No instruction should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence.” State v. Weaver, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975).

While a court is not required to give any particular verbiage, instructions may not confuse or mislead the jury. State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). Indeed, the purpose of the instructions is to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict. Id.

Appellant did not present any evidence of third party guilt.

Evidence offered by a defendant of the commission of the crime by another person is limited to facts inconsistent with defendant’s guilt. State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 513 S.E.2d 606 (1999). Evidence of another’s guilt must raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence, and evidence that only casts a bare suspicion on another is not admissible. State v. Gregory, 198 S.C. 98, 104-05, 16 S.E.2d 532, 534-35 (1941). A criminal defendant is not entitled to “indulge in conjectural inferences that some other person might have committed the offense for which he is on trial, or by fanciful analogy to say to the jury that someone other than he is more probably guilty.” Id.

In State v. Craig, 853 N.E.2d 621 (Ohio 2006), the Ohio Supreme Court upheld the trial court’s exclusion of testimony “that another suspect might have raped and murdered” the victim. Specifically, that at the time of the victim’s murder, the victim’s uncle was under investigation for

raping victim. Id. at 635. However, the Ohio Supreme Court found no evidence linking the previous rape of the murder victim or the uncle with the current charges. Id. The court analyzed Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006) and noted the state's interest in promoting the rape shield law was not outweighed by speculative evidence of a prior rape not connected to the victim's murder. Id. at 636. Likewise, in the present case, no evidence links the son's prior rape of Victim to the pregnancy. The only evidence presented was Victim was raped by three people, including Appellant, and Appellant was the one who impregnated Victim.

In Bell v. State, 360 S.W.3d 98, 103 (Ark. 2010), the Arkansas Supreme Court observed:

In cases involving rape of a minor, this court has uniformly and consistently excluded evidence of the minor's prior sexual activity because the only two issues to be determined are the fact of the occurrence of the prohibited activity and the age of the minor. . . . Generally, when consent is not an issue, the victim's prior sexual conduct with another person is entirely collateral.

(citations omitted). In the instant case, evidence that Victim was raped by two other people, even if close in time to the rape committed by Appellant, constituted extrinsic sexual activity, or rather victimization, that simply was not relevant to the charge for which Appellant was tried.

A situation somewhat inverse to the present case existed in State v. Talton, 497 A.2d 35 (Conn. 1985). In that case, the defendant was accused of forcing his way into the adult victim's residence and having intercourse with the victim against her will. She had a child nine and a half months later. At one point, she thought her attacker might be the father. However, she had intercourse with someone else three to seven days before the rape and the government never alleged the defendant was the father. Id. at 38. Nevertheless, the defendant moved for the trial judge to order the victim and her child to submit to a blood test, because the defendant argued the evidence

could be exculpatory. He also argued he should have been allowed to cross-examine the victim about the paternity of her child. The Connecticut Supreme Court found no error in excluding evidence of the pregnancy despite the claim such evidence would be exculpatory, holding:

The issue in this case was whether this defendant sexually assaulted the complainant. The complainant's subsequent pregnancy was irrelevant as to whether a sexual assault had occurred. The areas the defendant sought to explore were plainly collateral in nature. Under the facts of this case, the pregnancy of complainant had no bearing upon the identity of the person who sexually assaulted her. The fact of the pregnancy did not prove or disprove that defendant committed the crime.

Id. at 40. The court further noted that the case before them was clearly distinguishable from the cases cited by the defendant in which the victim alleged the accused was the only person alleged to have had intercourse with the victim. Id.

In the instant case, as in Talton, the victim alleged she was sexually assaulted by three people. So Appellant was not the only person alleged to have had intercourse with the Victim. At best, if charitably accepting an issue of paternity for the fetus existed, that would have only been impeaching as to the State's evidence – it would fail to establish Appellant did not commit a sexual assault.

Case law predating the advent of modern DNA testing is instructive. In People v. Seeley, 75 N.Y.S.2d 833 (N.Y. County Ct. 1948), the defendant charged with rape sought a blood test for the pregnant victim. The court refused because the necessary element of the crime was an act of sexual intercourse, not pregnancy. The court observed sexual intercourse “as is well known, does not necessarily result in pregnancy. There is abundant precedent for the proposition that pregnancy or the birth of a child is no evidence to corroborate testimony that the defendant is the guilty party.” Id. at 835. Obviously DNA testing has changed the ability to firmly establish a defendant's guilt when

the rape leads to pregnancy. However, the court observed something that has not changed, “Although there is no such substantial authority for the converse proposition, it is certainly logical and follows that pregnancy or the birth of a child could not acquit the defendant or substantiate his innocence of Rape in the Second Degree even if blood tests unequivocally showed that he could not be and was not the father.” Id. at 836. DNA testing has not altered the reality that more than one person could rape a child, as in the instant case, regardless of whether one of the perpetrators impregnated the child. Victim testified as to three crimes, not one.

Evidence contrary to the State’s DNA evidence – if indulging the argument that it existed – is impeaching, not evidence of third party guilt. In State v. Lawson, 267 S.E.2d 438, 439 (W.V. 1980), a witness testified the defendant thought the victim was pregnant by him and the victim testified she never engaged in sexual intercourse with anyone other than the defendant. The West Virginia Supreme Court noted:

In our case the matter of the paternity of the child is not the central issue, but rather whether the defendant committed statutory rape . . . However, the paternity of the child is a relevant fact in this case because the victim testified that this was the only instance of sexual intercourse in which she had engaged. Thus, if the defendant had been able to establish by a blood test that he could not possibly have fathered the child, he would have effectively impeached the victim’s testimony.

(Internal citation omitted).

In the present case, unlike the facts of Lawson, Victim’s testimony established three separate crimes were committed by three different people, including by Appellant. The pregnancy standing alone fails to prove Appellant committed a crime. However, the additional element of the results of DNA testing is suffice to say, strong evidence he did commit a crime. But if DNA results showed

someone else was the father, that would not be exculpatory for Appellant, nor even impeaching since Victim did not claim Appellant was the only person she ever had intercourse with. As observed by the Arkansas Supreme Court in Bell, the tragic fact two other people also raped Victim is collateral to the issue of Appellant's own guilt and not evidence Appellant did not commit the crime for which Victim accused him of committing. Therefore, no evidence warranting a third party guilt charge was presented at trial, and the trial court did not err in declining to instruct the jury on third party guilt evidence.

The requested instruction is an impermissible comment on the facts and the trial court is not required to instruct the jury on third party guilt as a stand-alone defense.

Appellant requested the following jury instruction:

The defendant contends that there is evidence before you indicating that someone other than he may have committed the crime, and that evidence raises a reasonable doubt with respect to the defendant's guilt.

In this regard, I charge you that a defendant in a criminal case has the right to rely on any evidence produced at trial that has a rational tendency to raise a reasonable doubt with respect to his own guilt.

I have previously charged you with regard to the State's burden of proof, which never shifts to the defendant. The defendant does not have to produce evidence that proves the guilt of another, but may rely on evidence that creates a reasonable doubt.

In other words, there is no requirement that this evidence proves or even raises a strong probability that someone other than the defendant committed the crime.

You must decide whether the State has proven the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, not whether the other person or persons may have committed the crime.

Defendant's Exhibit #2 (Court's Exhibit).

Initially, the State notes there are no cases in South Carolina requiring the giving of a third-party guilt charge, especially not one similar to the one requested by Appellant.¹ Appellant's requested jury instruction essentially highlights the defendant's theory on his defense. It begins by stating: "The defendant contends that there is evidence before you indicating that someone other than he may have committed the crime or crimes, and that evidence raises a reasonable doubt with respect to the defendant's guilt." This statement is a comment on the facts because it is discussing the evidence as the defendant would have the jury believe it. It is also isolating one type of evidence and providing special instructions for that type of evidence, which our Supreme Court has indicated is not allowed in jury instructions. See State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 499, 787 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2016).

In Stukes, the Supreme Court found the no-corroboration instruction for the testimony of sexual abuse victims isolated one type of evidence and set it apart from all others by indicating a victim's testimony need not be corroborated. The Supreme Court opined: "By addressing the veracity of a victim's testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury. The charge invites the jury to believe the victim, explaining that to confirm the authenticity of her statement, the jury need only hear her speak." Id. In the instant case, the requested instruction likewise highlights a defendant's theory of the case and specifically invites the jury to give it special consideration which would be just as invalid as the jury instruction found in Stukes.

¹ The Supreme Court observed, in an unpublished opinion, "[N]o case law in South Carolina . . . supports the proposition that a trial court must charge the jury on third-party guilt as a standalone defense." Teamer v. State, 2016-MO-013 (S.C. Supreme Court, filed April 13, 2016) 2016 WL 1458176.

The jury instruction also improperly holds that a defendant “has the right to rely on any evidence produced at trial that has a rational tendency to raise a reasonable doubt with respect to his own guilt.” The “right to rely” language at a minimum has the likelihood to confuse the jury based on the trial court’s explanation that they are the finders of fact and “it is your exclusive duty to decide all the issues of fact in this case. You must determine the effect, the value, and the weight of the evidence.” R. p. 158, lines 11-13.

The jury instruction requested by Appellant then continues to address the weight and type of evidence presented and how a defendant should be allowed to rely on that evidence. This type of instruction, commenting on the weight to be assigned specific evidence or types of evidence is not allowed. See State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 737 S.E.2d 480 (2013). In Cheeks, the jury charge indicated that actual knowledge of the possession of drugs is “strong evidence” of intent to control its disposition or use. The Supreme Court found the charge “improperly weighs the evidence” Id. at 328, 737 S.E.2d at 484.

The remainder of the jury charge requested by Appellant is just a re-wording of the burden of proof and the need for the State to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. The requested charge was fully covered by the trial court’s instructions to the jury.

In State v. Simmons, 430 S.C. 1, 22, 841 S.E.2d 845, 856 (2020) (C.J. Beatty, dissenting), by a three to two vote, the Supreme Court reversed the appellant’s conviction on an unrelated evidentiary issue, and therefore, the majority did not reach the appellant’s claim that the trial court erred by failing to provide an instruction on third party guilt. However, the dissent, in an opinion written by Chief Justice Beatty, opined an instruction on third party guilt was not warranted based

on the evidence provided and further found the requested instruction would have been an impermissible statement on the facts. Likewise, the instruction requested in the instant case was not supported by evidence and is an unconstitutional statement on the facts.

Harmless error/no prejudice

Further, any error was harmless. Errors are considered to be harmless when the errors could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003); State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial). The evidence established Appellant as the father of the fetus. The uncontroverted evidence excluded the other two perpetrators as the father of the fetus. “Harmless error rules . . . ‘serve a very useful purpose insofar as they block setting aside convictions for small errors or defects that have little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial.’” State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 59, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 22 (1967)). The harmless error doctrine preserves the central purpose of a criminal trial, which is to decide the factual question of a defendant’s guilt or innocence. State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 246, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) (citing Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 306-08 (1991)). This was hardly a whodunit, notwithstanding the desperate argument of defense counsel. Appellant committed criminal sexual conduct and any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.